IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM MARIAN THRELKELD, RANDY KEM WHITTEN AND WIFE, IVA NELL WHITTEN, EDWARD L. MAYNARD, MARY RUTH WHITTEN AND SANDRA K. FARLEY

APPELLANTS

VS.

i

ì

Ì.

i

1

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00944

MITCHELL L. SISK AND WIFE, GRACE SISK, JAMES BRUCE SISK, SR. AND PHYLLIS SISK GOGGANS

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest

in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme

Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. William Marian Threlkeld, Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES vi
STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below
B. Statement of the Facts
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT8
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX – TAX MAP OF PROPERTIES

1

ł

i

Ì

i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Broadhead v. Terpening, 611 So.2d 949 (Miss., 1992)
<i>Ellison v. Meek</i> , 820 So.2d 730, 734 (Miss.Ct.App.2002)
<i>Gillespie v. Kelly</i> , 809 So.2d 702 (Miss. 2002)
Griffin v. Brian Development Co., Inc., 938 So.2d 337 (Miss.App., 2006)
Peagler v. Measells, 743 So.2d 389, 390 (Miss.Ct.App.1999)
<i>Rice v. Pritchard</i> , 611 So.2d 869 (Miss. 1992)
<i>Taylor v. Hays</i> , 551 So.2d at 909 (Miss. 1989) 10
Thornhill v. Caroline Hunt Trust Estate, 594 So.2d 1150 (Miss. 1992)
Wisconsin Avenue Properties, Inc. v. First Church of Nazarene of Vicksburg,

Î

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

THE SISKS FAILED TO ESTABLISH BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT THEY POSSESSED A PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT OVER THE SUBJECT PROPERTY

ISSUE TWO:

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE SISKS POSSESSED AN EASEMENT BY NECESSITY OVER THE WHITTEN'S PRIVATE DRIVE

.

.

1.

Ι.

Ι.

Ι.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Appellants (collectively referred to herein as the "Sisks") filed a Fourth Amended Complaint alleging that they were entitled to an easement over a private drive which crosses property owned by the Appellees (collectively referred to herein as the "Whittens"). The Whittens answered seeking an injunction to prohibit the Sisks from crossing their property. Since the filing of the lawsuit in 1998, all of the judges in the First Chancery Court District recused themselves and Chancellor Kenneth Burns was specially appointed to hear the matter. A bench trial was conducted on March 1 and 2, 2007 at the Lee County Justice Center in Tupelo, Mississippi.

.

r

٤ ـ

t

i -

: .

1

Ĺ.

The Sisks' Fourth Amended Complaint outlined three causes of action. First, the Sisks claimed that they had an easement by prescription over the private drive. Second, the Sisks claimed that they had an easement by necessity over the private drive. Finally, they claimed that the private drive was actually a public road. However, at trial, the Plaintiffs abandoned their claim that the drive was a public road.

Before the trial commenced, the Sisks sought to amend their complaint to add a cause of action to claim that they possessed an express easement across the private drive. The Court took the Motion to Amend under advisement and eventually denied the amendment.

The issues before the Trial Court were whether the Sisks possessed an easement over the private drive of the Whittens, whether the Sisks were entitled to amend again on the day of trial, whether the Whittens were entitled to a permanent injunction restricting the Sisks from the use of the private drive, whether the Whittens were entitled to damages and, if the Sisks were entitled to an easement, then the extent of the easement.

The Court found that the Sisks possessed an implied easement and an easement by

prescription. The Court set the easement at a width of 16 feet on each side of center line of an existing drive. The Court's order set forth the survey description of the centerline. Since the filing of the appeal, all parties have determined that the survey outlined in paragraph 15 of the Trial Court's opinion was erroneous and the parties have agreed on a revised description of the center line to the extent that the correct description of the center line may be relevant to this Court's ruling.

The trial court entered its findings by an order dated May 3, 2007 and the Whittens timely filed a Notice of Appeal to contest the existence of the easement.

ATTACHED DIAGRAM

The following facts make reference to certain tracts of property which were identified throughout the trial using a tax map which is attached to this brief and to which direct reference is hereby made. The actual diagram was too large to copy. The attached diagram corresponds to the relevant portions of the diagram which was admitted into evidence.

1

e :

∠ _

!

τ. 2

ł.

On the attached diagram, the private drive which is the subject of the litigation is outlined in red ink with arrows as each end. The County Road at the top of the diagram is Lee County Road # 530. The Sisks are seeking an easement across the private drive marked in red which eventually leads to their properties which are Parcel #s 18, 8, 17 and 16. Parcels 48.01, 7 and 6.01 are owned by David and Phyliss Sisk Goggans, the nephew and niece of the Sisk Appellees. The yellow highlighted line is the alternate route described throughout the trial that crosses the Goggans to the Sisk's properties.

The diagram also identifies James Williams as the owner of Parcel #2.01 and Phillip Williams as the owner of Parcel #2.0. These parcels were purchased by the Williams after the litigation commenced. Parcel #2.01 and 2.00 were formerly united and were referred to throughout the trial as the "Washburn" property.

FACTS

¹In 1936, F. G. Thomas obtained title to several hundred acres of land in Sections 10, 11, 12,

14, 15, 3 and 2 in Township 11 Range 5 East in Lee County, Mississippi. All of the subject properties were originally part of the Thomas property except the tract owned by James Bruce Sisk, Jr. which is Parcel #16 on the attached diagram. All of the Thomas property was bordered on the north by what is now County Road 530 and 373 in Lee County, Mississippi. The majority of the Thomas property was used for farming. The Thomas deed specifically reserved an easement and right of way of 15 feet wide along the Chiwappa Creek from the lands conveyed.

In the early 1940's, Thomas sold two tracts of his property bordering County Road 530

totaling 49 acres. On December 27, 1941, R. M. Priest bought 40 acres described as:

Forty acres, more or less, described as beginning at the point 20 rods east of the southwest corner of the SW 1/4 of Section 2, Township 11, Range 5 East and run thence East 64 rods, more or less, to the west side of a private roadway; thence Northeast along the west side of said private roadway to the north line of the South Half of said quarter section, which is a public orad; thence West along said public road 95 rods, mor or less, to a point 20 rods west of the northwest corner of the South Half of said quarter ;thence South 80 rods to the point of beginning.

On the same day, Donald Priest bought 9 acres which was described as:

Beginning at the Southeast corner of the SW 1/4 of Section, 2 Township 11 South, Range 5 East, and run thence West 44 rods for a point of beginning; thence North 80 rods to the Public road; thence West 8 rods to the East line of a private roadway; thence in a s southwest direction along the east line of said private roadway; thence in a southwest direction along the east line of said private roadway to the South line of said SW 1/4 thence East 32 rods, more or less, to the point of beginning.

Clearly, the deeds indicate the existence of a private roadway of an undetermined width and

the descriptions for both tracts left the ownership of the private roadway with Mr. Thomas

presumably to access the 120 acre tract of land which he still owned immediately south of the

ł

¹The parties stipulated to the title to the tracts of subject property. The deed references are contained in the stipulation.

Priests' property. Following the death of Mr. Thomas, his daughter inherited the property which was referred to throughout the trial as the "Washburn" property referencing the 120 acre tract which joins the Priests' property and which is located in Section 11, Township 11, Range 2 East in Lee County, Mississippi.

Mr. Washburn testified at the trial that when he and his wife (Thomas' daughter) took ownership of the 120 acre tract (Parcels 2 and 2.01)² in the 1960's, they did not know that they owned any land in Section 2 including the private drive and that he believed that the private drive belonged to Donald Priest. Regardless, in 1965, Donald Priest entered into a joint venture with Washburn whereby Donald Priest leased the Washburn property for a catfish farming operation. Donald Priest constructed lakes on the Washburn property and continued to control the use of the Washburn property until the mid-1980's.

By 1965, following the death of R. M. Priest, his widow, Ms. Willie Priest, became the owner of the 40 acre tract (Parcels #48, 48.01, 48.02, 48.04) along with a 27.5 acre tract (Parcel #18) which is west of the Washburn property and which is south of the 40 acre tract. In 1965, Ms. Willie Priest sold the 27.5 acre tract (Parcel #18) to Frank and Mitchell Sisk.

Several of the witnesses testified to a conversation in the late 1960's in which Donald Priest, Ms. Willie Priest's son, handled the transaction. Donald Priest in some form told the Sisks that the private drive was a public road and that they didn't need his permission to use it. All of the Plaintiff's witnesses agreed that it was this conversation that was the basis for all of the use of the private drive by the Plaintiffs for the last forty years.

For example, Mr. Mitchell Sisk testified on cross examination:

f

ĩ

í

İ.

Q: That's right. Y'all asked him [Priest] if it was okay to use it [private drive] and he

²Plaintiff's exhibit #1 is a tax map that identifies all of the subject properties by parcel number to which direct reference is made.

told you that it was; isn't that right?

A: Yeah, um-h-mm.

ſ

ļ

Ę

.

ł

.

.

۰.

Ê

ż

i.

İ.

t.

Q: Okay, And, based on that, for the last 40 years, y'all have used that road because he told you it was okay to use that road. That is true, isn't it?

A: Yeah, yeah.

Q: And y'all have never claimed to own that road; correct?

A: Yeah. That's right. That's correct.

Trial Transcript page 44, lines 8 - 17.

In 1970, Washburn sold additional tracts of the former Thomas property to the Sisks including Parcel #8 and 17 which was ultimately titled in the name of Mitchell and Grace Sisk. Parcel #18 was eventually transferred to David and Phyliss Sisk Goggans in the early 1980's.

It is clear that the Plaintiffs used the private drive as they described from 1965 until the early 1980's when Ms. Willie Priest sold 18 acres from her 40 acre tract to David and Phyliss Sisk Goggans which became Parcel #48.01. This property joins Parcel #18 which is also owned by David and Phyliss Sisk Goggan. They also own Parcel #7 and 6.01 and agreed that they must cross Parcel #48.01 and 18 to get to Parcel #6.01 and 7. The Goggans cleared a road through the tracts and along with the Sisks, used the road as their primary means of access to the subject properties until 1996.

All of the Plaintiffs' witnesses testified that they used the private drive across the Priest property beginning in 1965 to access Parcel 18 and continued to use the private drive to access Parcel #8 and 17 after they were purchased in 1970 from Washburn. According to the Sisks, they used the private drive two days in the spring to take equipment to the fields and two days in the fall when the harvest occurred. They also testified that they would periodically drive passenger vehicles across the drive to check on the fields.

For example, Paul Sisk confirmed that they have another way to get to the fields, but that the subject private drive was used primarily for two days during the spring to get large equipment to one part of their property across the Washburn property.

- Q: Okay. So throughout the '80s, you don't disagree that the majority of the use of or the road that y'all primarily used to get to your property was across Mr. Goggans' property?
- A: We used it occasionally.
- Q: Well, I mean, the truth is, is that you started using that as your primary way to get in rather than using the Washburn property to -?
- A: Well, it wasn't the primary. It was just the way we planted beans up, and we'd just always plant them in and come plant – plant back out and –

* * *

- Q: Let's talk about the number of days that you might have used or crossed that road.[private drive]. Howe many days did it take you to plant?
- A: It would take about two days.

* * *

- Q:So that means that two days in the spring you would come across one of those ways to get into the fields, plant all day, and then come back out at the end of the day; is that right?
- A: Well, we wouldn't come out at the end of the day.[across the private drive] We would leave it [heavy equipment] down there. We'd come out up at the other road most of the time.[across the Goggans property].

* * *

Q: And then the next day when you got through down there, you would bring the

equipment out?

A: Plant out to the other end; right.

* * *

- Q: And sometimes when you planted out to the other end, you would use some different way to get out over some other farms if it was more convenient for you?
- A: Yes, sir.

ł

ŕ

1

i.

ł.

Trial Transcript page 107 line 9 through page 108, line 24.

About the same time as the Goggans purchased Parcel 48.01, Randy Kem Whitten and wife, Nell Whitten, bought virtually all of the Donald Priest property which is Parcel #48.03. According to Randy Whitten and his wife, the Sisks did not use the private drive from 1984 until 1996. The Plaintiffs confirm that after the Goggans bought Parcel #48.01 that the Goggans property was the primary path taken to get the subject properties. In fact, Phyliss Sisk Goggans was originally a Plaintiff seeking to confirm her interest in the alleged easement. However, she was voluntarily dismissed from the litigation because the Goggans had no need for the use of the private drive to access Parcel #s 7 and 6.01. David Goggans confirmed that there were some years where he and Sisks did not use the private drive at all including the year that Washburn had timber cut from his property and the private drive was impassable across the Washburn property.

David Goggans testified:

- Q: And, of course, when the timber was cut so that you couldn't use the Washburn property, your property was the only was to get in and out for that entire season?
- A: We pretty much used it, yeah, mine.

The remaining Appellants are owners of tracts which were formerly owned by R. M. Priest and whose homes line either side of the private drive. The conflict over the limited use of the private drive commenced in 1996 when Randy Whitten observed the Sisks moving equipment over the private drive. Ultimately a confrontation ensued and Whitten told the Sisks that they could not use the drive to move tractors and other heavy equipment. The Sisks resisted and filed the subject lawsuit.

ţ

÷ •

t.

.

¢

•

đ

:

ŧ .

i i

i.

ŧ.

ļ

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in granting the Sisks and easement by prescription over the private drive. In 1965, the current Sisks Appellees asked and obtained permission to use the private drive from the Whitten's uncle, Donald Priest. All of the Sisks agree that they never claimed any ownership interest in the private drive and that their only claim of use is through the permission granted by Donald Priest. Consent to use a road may never ripen into an easement. The Trial Court erred in finding that the Sisks own an easement across the private drive.

Second, the Trial Court found that since the Sisks obtained their property from a common owner, they possess and easement by necessity. While it is true that the Sisks originally were entitled to an easement by necessity to use the private drive, in 1981 when an alternate route became available to them, the necessity ended. Additionally, the alternate route is through property now planed in pine and is the route the Goggans use to access other properties they have. The Goggans are required to cross the Sisks to get access to their properties. Meanwhile, the Sisks use of large equipment across the private drive of the Whittens has caused damage to the road, landscape and peace of the five homeowners along the drive. The access across the Goggans property is less onerous that the private drive. The Trial Court erred in placing a 16 foot easement across the private drive of the Whittens.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has a limited standard of review in examining and considering the decisions of a chancellor. *Ellison v. Meek*, 820 So.2d 730, 734(¶ 11) (Miss.Ct.App.2002). "When reviewing a chancellor's decision, we will accept a chancellor's findings of fact as long as the evidence in the record reasonably supports those findings. In other words, we will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless those findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Peagler v. Measells*, 743 So.2d 389, 390(¶ 6) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). "The chancellor, as the trier of fact, evaluates the sufficiency of the proof based on the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony." *Ellison*, 820 So.2d at 734(¶ 11). The standard of review for questions of law is de novo. *Id*.

Griffin v. Brian Development Co., Inc. 938 So.2d 337, *338 (Miss.App.,2006)

LAW ON EASEMENTS

The law regarding easements is well established. Easements come in three forms:

prescriptive, implied or by necessity and express.

.

۰ -.

ŧ

ŧ

ŧ.

.

ł

In order to prove that a prescriptive easement exists, a party must prove that the use is (1) open, notorious and visible; (2) hostile; (3) under claim of ownership; (4) exclusive; (5) peaceful; and continuous and uninterrupted for ten years. However, use by express or implied permission or license, no matter how long continued, cannot ripen into an easement by prescription, since adverse use, as distinguished from permissive, is lacking.

Gillespie v. Kelly, 809 So.2d 702 (Miss. 2002). (citations omitted).

The burden of proof is on the claimant to show by clear and convincing evidence that each

element is met. Thornhill v. Caroline Hunt Trust Estate, 594 So.2d 1150 (Miss. 1992).

Possession of real property with the record owner's permission cannot ripen into adverse

possession until there is a positive assertion of a right hostile to the record owner which is made

known to him. Rice v. Pritchard, 611 So.2d 869 (Miss. 1992)

In Broadhead v. Terpening, 611 So.2d 949 (Miss., 1992) our Supreme Court addressed

easements by necessity by stating:

It is well-established that an easement by necessity arises by implied grant when a

part of a commonly-owned tract of land is severed in such a way that either portion of the property has been rendered inaccessible except by passing over the other portion or by trespassing on the lands of another. Such easements or rights-of-way by necessity last as long as the necessity exists and terminate when other access to the landlocked parcel becomes available.

In Taylor v. Hays, 551 So.2d at 909 (Miss. 1989), the Supreme Court said, "it is well

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