## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# WILLIAM MARION THRELKELD, RANDY KIM WHITTEN AND WIFE, IVA NELL WHITTEN, EDWARD L. MAYNARD, MARY RUTH WHITTEN, SANDRA KAY FARLEY, HEYWOOD WASHBURN AND WIFE, SUE T. WASHBURN, MOLLY T. THOMPSON, AND FULTON THOMPSON

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00944

MITCHELL L. SISK AND WIFE, GRACE SISK, JAMES BRUCE SISK, SR., PHYLLIS SISK GOGGANS APPELLEES

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

# THOMAS M. McELROY, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLEES

THOMAS M. McELROY, P.A. 301 NORTH BROADWAY TUPELO, MS 38804 662-842-3723 662-842-3744 fax

1 1

## ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

STATEMENT OF ISSUES vii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 11
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

ţ.:

Ę

i.

.

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

1

( |

( ) 0 ;

1

Ĺ

/

{
1
1

{ ] ]

l.

 $\left( \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \right)$ 

Bank of Miss. v. Hollingsworth, 609 So. 2d 422, 424 (Miss. 1992) 12
Brandenburg v. Brooks, 264 Ark. 939, 576 S.W.2d 196 (1979) 13
Broadhead v, Terpening, 611 So. 2d, 949 13, 14
Carver v. Jones, 28 Ark. App. 288, 773 S.W.2d 842, 845 (Ark. App. 1989) 13
Clark v. [*196] Myrick, 523 So. 2d 79, 81 (Miss. 1988) 12
Dieck v. Landry, 796 So. 2d 1004, 1007 (P7) (Miss. 2001) 12
<i>Fike v. Shelton,</i> 611 So. 2d 949 14
Fisher v. Fisher, 771 So. 2d 364, 367 (P8) (Miss. 2000) (citing Richard v. Richard, 711 So.
2d 884, 888 (P13) (Miss. 1998))
Gulf Coast Research Laboratory v. Amaraneni, 877 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (P8) (2004). 12
Hammett v. Woods, 602 So. 2d 825, 827 (Miss. 1992) 12
Hancock v. Henderson, 236 Md. 98, 202 A.2d 599, 603 (Md. 1964) 13
<i>McNeil v. Hester</i> , 753 So. 2d 1057, 1063 (P21) (Miss. 2000)
Medina v. State of Mississippi ex. rel Sumner, 354 So. 2d 779, 784 (Miss. 1978) 13
Myers v. Blair, 611 So. 2d 969, 971 (Miss. 1992) (citing Dethlefs v. Beau Maison Dev.
Corp., 511 So. 2d 112 (Miss. 1987) 14
Pecander Associates, Inc. v. Glasgow Trust, 446 A.2d 1097, 1100 (Del. 1982) 13
Pleas v. Thomas, 75 Miss. 495, 500, 22 So. 820, 821 (1897) 13
Rogers v. Marlin, 754 So. 2d 1267, 1272 (Miss Ct. App. 1999) 14
Scruggs v. Shelby, 733 So. 2d 347, 349 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999
Sigal v. Mfrs. Light and Heat Co., 450 Pa. 228, 299 A. 2d 646, 649 (Pa. 1973) 16
Smith v. Virginia Iron, Coal & Coke Co., 143 Va. 159, 129 S.E. 274, 276 (Va. 1925) 13

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

# THE SISKS ESTABLISHED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT THEY POSSESSED A PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT OVER THE GRAVEL DRIVE WHICH IS THE SUBJECT OF THIS APPEAL.

## **ISSUE TWO:**

THE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE SISKS POSSESSED AN EASEMENT BY NECESSITY OVER THE WHITTENS' GRAVEL DRIVE.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

Mitchell L. Sisk and Wife, Grace Sisk, Frank Sisk, James Bruce Sisk, Sr., Plaintiffs, originally filed their lawsuit against William Marion Threldkeld, Randy Kem Whitten and Wife, Iva Nell Whitten, Edward L. Maynard and Mary Ruth Whitten on February 9, 1998 in the Lee County Chancery Court. After the death of the original Plaintiff, Frank Sisk, who was replaced in the lawsuit by his daughter, Phyllis Sisk Goggans; the death of an attorney of record, Jeremy J. Eskridge; continuances; the recusal of all of the sitting Chancellors of the First Judicial District; this cause was finally heard on March 1-2, 2007 before the Honorable Kenneth M. Burns who heard the testimony of the witnesses, viewed the documents and photographs introduced into evidence, and upon Motion of the Plaintiffs and Defendants viewed the gravel drive and the surrounding property of all of the Parties.

The case was heard on the Fourth Amended Complaint of Mitchell L. Sisk and Wife, Grace Sisk, and James Bruce Sisk, Sr., to establish an easement by prescription and/or an easement by necessity across the gravel drive which is shown between the arrows on Plaintiffs' Exhibit "1." P-1 also identifies James Williams as the owner of Parcel #2.01 and Phillip Williams as the owner of Parcel #2.00. These parcels were purchased by the Williams from Heywood Washburn, et al, after this litigation commenced. Parcel #2.01 and #2.00 were formerly united and were referred to throughout the trial as the "Washburn" property. The gravel drive continued south onto the Washburn property on what is now Parcel 2.01 and turned either to the west for Mitchell Sisk and Grace Sisk to access Parcels 17 and 8 or continued south for James Bruce Sisk to access Parcel 16.

This gravel drive is described below by virtue of the survey of the Lee County

Surveyor, Carl J. Scherff, registered land surveyor number 2467, dated August 3, 2007.

The Plaintiffs and the Defendants all agree that this legal description of the gravel drive

should replace the description contained in the Order of the Lee County Chancery Court

dated May 3, 2007:

COMMENCING AT AN AXLE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 11 SOUTH, RANGE 5 EAST, LEE COUNTY, Mississippi. Thence south 00 degrees 44 minutes 22 seconds east 2641.33 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 2. TOWNSHIP 11 SOUTH, RANGE 5 EAST, LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI. THENCE EAST 676.50 FEET TO AN IRON PIN; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 34 SECONDS EAST 659.59 FEET TO THE CENTER OF A GRAVEL DRIVE, FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING. THENCE AROUND THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE NORTHEAST, WITH A RADIUS OF 4871.66 FEET, A TANGENT OF 174.34, AND A CHORD OF NORTH 25 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 11 SECONDS EAST 348.45 FEET; THENCE AROUND THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, WITH A RADIUS OF 399.54 FEET, A TANGENT OF 36.06 FEET, AND A CHORD OF NORTH 30 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 09 SECONDS EAST 71.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST 158.95 FEET; THENCE AROUND THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WITH A RADIUS OF 204.04 FEET, A TANGENT OF 33.96 FEET, AND A CHORD OF THE NORTH 25 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST 67.00 FEET; THENCE AROUND THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WITH A RADIUS OF 705.62 FEET, A TANGENT OF 87.92 FEET, AND A CHORD OF NORTH 06 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST174.48 FEET; THENCE AROUND A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, WITH A RADIUS OF 363.12 FEET, A TANGENT OF 81.29 FEET. AND A CHORD OF NORTH 12 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 19 SECONDS EAST 158.65 FEET; THENCE AROUND THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WITH A RADIUS OF 307.27 FEET, A TANGENT OF 66.04 FEET, AND A CHORD OF NORTH 15 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST 129.13 FEET: THENCE NORTH 05 DEGREES 34 MINUTES 29 SECONDS EAST 284.24 FEET TO THE CENTER OF LEE COUNTY ROAD NO. 530, AND THE END OF THIS EASEMENT. LYING AND BEING IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 11 SOUTH, RANGE 5 EAST, LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI.

Phyllis Sisk Goggans, filed a motion to be dismissed from this lawsuit, which motion

was granted by the Lee County Chancery Court. Phyllis Sisk Goggans is the daughter of

Frank Sisk, deceased, who along with his brother, Mitchell, purchased farm land from Mrs.

Willie Priest in 1965 and from Heywood Washburn, et al, in 1970.

Frank Sisk, Mitchell Sisk and wife, Grace Sisk, and James Bruce Sisk, Jr. were

Thomas dated November 16, 1936, recorded in Book 259, Page 283. This conveyance was for property located in Section 2, Section 10, and Section 11 of Township 11 South, Range 5 East, Lee County, Mississippi. See part of Exhibit "P-8."

The second conveyance was a Warranty Deed from F. G. Thomas to R. M. Priest dated December 27, 1941, recorded in Book 301, Page 283, part of Exhibit "P-8" in which he conveyed forty (40) acres to R. M. Priest. The eastern most boundary of this forty (40) acre tract was the west side of the gravel drive running from Lee County Road 530 to a point on the north line of the Washburn property (Parcel 2.0 and 2.01 combined).

The third conveyance was a Warranty Deed from F. G. Thomas to W. Donald Priest dated December 27, 1941, recorded in Book 301, Page 284 conveying nine (9) acres. Part of Collective Exhibit "P-8." The westernmost boundary of the 9 acre tract was the east line of the gravel drive, which ran from Lee County Road 530 to the north line of the Washburn property.

The conveyances to R. M. Priest and to W. Donald Priest left F. G. Thomas with access down the gravel drive to the Washburn property and to Parcels 8 and 17 (now owned by Mitchell L. Sisk and Wife, Grace Sisk). Parcels 7 and 18, now owned by Phyllis Sisk Goggans, were sold to Frank and Mitchell Sisk by Mrs. Willie Priest in 1965, and were also accessed by the Sisks down the gravel drive.

The land retained by F. G. Thomas was the gravel drive running from County Road 530 to the north line of the Washburn property and is shown on Exhibit "P-1" as beginning at the top arrow pointing to County Road 530 and ending at the bottom arrow which points to the north line of the Washburn property. F. G. Thomas and his successors and/or assigns, including Mitchell Sisk et ux, Grace Sisk, and James Bruce Sisk, Jr., used this

gravel drive to access the Washburn property, and Parcels 7, 8, 16, 17, and 18.

### TITLE TO LAND OF MITCHELL SISK AND WIFE, GRACE SISK:

Frank and Mitchell Sisk purchased thirty-six point sixty-nine (36.69) acres located in Section 10 and Section 11 from Mrs. Willie Priest on November 4, 1965. See Exhibit "P-2." Mrs. Willie Priest was the widow of R. M. Priest. The Defendant, Randy Kem Whitten, is the great-grandson of R. M. and Willie Priest. Upon receipt of this conveyance of land, Frank and Mitchell Sisk began using the gravel drive between the two (2) Priests' properties and easement on the Washburn property to gain access to the agricultural lands (Parcels 7 and 18) purchased from Mrs. Willie Priest on November 4, 1965. The Sisks purchased this land to raise soybeans. Record Page 12, Line 28. This is the date the Sisks began their claim of a right to use the gravel drive for access to their land. The record reflects that in 1965 the gravel road was the only access to Parcels 7, 8, 17, and 18. Record Page 264, Line 25 - Page 265, Line 3.

Subsequently, J. H. Washburn, Jr. and wife, Sue Washburn, and Fulton Thompson and wife, Molly Thompson conveyed Parcel 17 and Parcel 8, which consisted of farm land in the Chiwapa Creek Bottom, to Frank R. Sisk and Mitchell Sisk, dated May 30, 1970, recorded Book 872, Page 480. Heywood Washburn testified that the property in Parcel 17 and Parcel 8 was used for growing crops. Record Page 251, Line 12. He further testified that the only known access to Parcel 17 and Parcel 8 was across the gravel drive and the Washburn property to the Chiwapa Creek Bottom. Record Page 251, Line 8 - 26. At the time of the sale, Heywood Washburn was not aware of any other means of ingress or egress to the property, Record Page 253, Line 6, and believed that the gravel drive was a public road. Record Page 259, Line 3 - 7. From the time of the purchase of the property from Mrs. Willie Priest in 1965 and the purchase of property in 1970 from Washburn and Thompson, the Sisks, and David and Phyllis Goggans drove their farm equipment down the gravel drive in the spring to prepare to plant and plant crops; in the summer to periodically check and spray their crops; and in the fall to harvest their their crops. This farming schedule necessitated the use of tractors, combines, disks, spray rigs and trucks all of which are described in Exhibit "P-12." Testimony of Mitchell Sisk: Record Page 26, Line 5 - Page 29, Line 9; Testimony of Paul Sisk, Record Page 108, Line 2 - Record Page 109, Line 20; Record Page 115, Line 5 - 19; Testimony of David Goggans, Record Page 274, Line 26 - Record Page 276, Line 3.

#### TITLE TO LAND OF JAMES BRUCE SISK, SR.:

Title to Parcel 16 is held by James Bruce Sisk, Sr. This property was purchased from John A. Raspberry, Guardian for Mrs. Maudie Bell Long, Cause No. 15158 by Allen Sisk and Wife, Mary Sisk by Warranty Deed dated October 31, 1959, recorded in Book 535, Page 265 of the land records of Lee County, Mississippi. Subsequently Allen Sisk, et ux., conveyed Parcel 16 to his son, James Bruce Sisk, Sr., by Warranty Deed dated January 11, 1981, recorded in Book 1061, Page 633. The title of James Bruce Sisk, Sr. does not derive from a common source with any of the Defendants or with the Plaintiffs, Mitchell Sisk and Wife, Grace Sisk. See Plaintiffs' Exhibit "P-5."

The Defendant Kem Whitten testified to the use of the gravel drive by Allen Sisk. Record Page 165, Line 7. James Bruce Sisk, Sr. testified to the use of the gravel road prior to 1965 and up to 1995 without interference from anyone including Kem Whitten's great-uncle, Doyle Priest, and Donald Priest, his grandfather. Not until 1995 did Kem Whitten begin harassing Bruce Sisk, Sr. and Paul Sisk for driving farm equipment down the gravel road. The Sisks continued to use the gravel drive after Kem Whitten attempted to stop their use in 1995 and then filed their original Complaint on February 9, 1998.

The record is filled with testimony that the gravel drive was used by Heywood Washburn, Doyle Priest, Donald Priest, James Bruce Sisk, Sr., Mitchell Sisk, Paul Sisk (son of Mitchell Sisk), Frank Sisk, deceased, the predecessor in title to Phyllis Sisk Goggans, and David Goggans without incident or objection by the Priests well into the 1980's. Record Page 211, Line 13-25. From August 1983 until January 1985, Randy Kem Whitten and Wife, Iva Nell Whitten renovated the house located on Parcel 48.3H. in which they now live on the gravel road. From August 1983, when the full-time renovation of the house began, until 1995, the Sisks used the gravel drive without objection from anyone. Only after Randy Kem Whitten and Wife, Iva Nell Whitten resided in the home for a period of ten (10) years did an objection occur to the Sisks' use of the property. See Record Page 209, Line 21 - 28.

## EQUIPMENT USED ON GRAVEL DRIVE:

The credible testimony in this case by Mitchell Sisk, Bruce Sisk, and David Goggans,<sup>1</sup> established that Mitchell Sisk and Grace used the following described equipment, with the following widths on the gravel drive to access the agricultural property in the Chiwapa Creek Bottom from 1965 until the Defendant, Kem Whitten began harassing and attempting to intimidate the Plaintiffs from using the gravel drive to access Parcel 7, 8, 16, and 17.

1973 ½ ton Chevrolet Pickup

David Goggans married Phyllis Sisk Goggans, successor in interest to Frank R. Sisk, in 1972 and worked on the Sisk operation and on his own property purchased in the early 1980's from Doyle Priest. Record 260 Line 25, Exhibit P-11.

1976 ½ ton Chevrolet Pickup 1983 1/2 ton Chevrolet Pickup 1966 Chevrolet C-60 bean truck 1977 GMC 6000 bean truck 1976 Chevrolet C-60 bean truck 1985 Ford F-250 truck with spray rig folded to 12' 8' wide trailer John Deere 8630 tractor 12' wide John Deere 4630 tractor 12' 6" wide International 1466 tractor 12' 6" International 1486 tractor 12' 6" 930 Case tractor John Deere 7700 Combine 11' 6" wide John Deere 1010 Field Cultivator 16' wide folded White Model 272 Disk 18' wide folded Case Disk 15' folded 30' Great Plain Drill 15'6" wide folded John Deere 7100 planter 21' wide 20' foot chisel plow

See Exhibit "P-12."

David and Phyllis Sisk Goggans drove the following described equipment across the

gravel drive to access the property owned by Frank Sisk, which was subsequently inherited

by Phyllis Sisk Goggans:

1980 ford 700 2-ton Bean truck - 8 1/2' 1981 GMC C50 2-ton bean truck - 8 1/2' Trailer to carry seed to field - 8' Spray truck for chemicals - 12 feet wide Cotton Wagon - 8' Farmall 1-row Cotton Picker- 10' wide International 416, 2 Row Cotton Picker Water wagon for fish ponds - 8'-9' John Deere 4840 9' wide John Deere 4240 9' wide 1466 dual wheel International 12'6" wide 1486 International 8'-9' 930 Case 9' John Deere Combine 7700 20 and 25 feet headers 6600 John Deere Combine with 20' head International 496 disk 15' wide folded Case Disk 23 feet Fold up to 15 feet

Case I H Disk 496 23 feet fold up to 15 feet 20 foot Chisel Plow Grate Plows Grain Drill 30 feet fold up to 15 feet John Deere 7100 planter 21' wide

See Exhibit "P-12."

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